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1. Name of Property

historic narme ‘The Fourth Church of Christ, Scientist

othar némes/site number ' Hebrew Tabernacle Congregation Qf Washington Heights

2. Lopation o

street & number _ 551 Fort Washin gtoil Avenue « : B [ ] not for publicétjon'

city or town | Malﬂlattah' | e . =[] vicinity -

state New York code NY county.l New York l- B . code_ 06 zipcode 10033

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated autherity under the Naticnal Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify-that this [X] iomination [ ]
request for determination of eligibility meets the dogumentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historle
Places and meets tha procedural and professional requirements as set forth in 36 CFR Part 62, In my opinicn, the property [X]
meets [ ] does not meet the National Register criteria. i recommend that this property be con5|dered significant [ ] nationalty

[1] statemde K jocally. ([ ] see-gontinuation sheet for additional somments.)
@M. Atwpot  TTHAD \ - /H//\

Signature of cerifying offitial/Title _ "Dale’

Néw York State Office of Parks. Recréation & Historic Preservation
State or Federal agency and bureau

BN

In my oplnlon the properiy{ ] meets [ ] does not meet the Natmnal Register crlterta {[ 1see continuation sheet for additional
somments. }

Signature of certifying officlal/Title o . _ ‘ - Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification

| hereby certify that the preperty is: Signatuf’é of the Keeper - . : date of action
[ ] entered in the Naticnal Register . ] ‘ ) .

[ ]see continuation shest
[ ] dstermined eligible for the Mational Reglster
[ 1 see continuation sheet

[ ] determined not gligibie for the

Mational Register

[ I remaved from the National Register

[ Jother {explain)'




| “The Fourth Church of Christ, Sc1entlst

Name of Property

New York, New York
County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
{check as many boxes as apply) {Check only one box)
[X] private . [X] building(s}
" [ 1 public-local [ Jdistrict
- [ 1public-State o I1site .
[ ] public-Federal [ ]structure. .
S [ ]

object :

~ Name of related multiple property fisting

(Ertter “N/A".If proparty is not part of & multiple property listing}

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)-

Contributing Noncontributing
o I | - buildings
0 0-. -sites
0 0. .structures
0 0 objects
1 -0 TOTAL

Number of contributing resources previously

listed in the National Register

N/A

© 6. Function or Use -

_ Historic Functions
(enter categories from mstructlons)

REI TGION/ religious fac111tv :

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

. MODERN MOVEMENT/ Art Deco

Narratlve Description

Current Functions -

(Enter categories from Instructions) -

" RELIGION! religious facility ~ . -

Materials
(Enter categories from Instructions)

foundation Ston’e

walls _ Brick & Indiana [imestone

roof Flat/ Membrané

ather- Aluminum Grilles

(Deseribe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more contlnuatlon sheets)
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Narrative Description

Overview : o |
The Fourth Chm ch of Christ, SOlGHUSt now the Hebrew Tabernacle Congl egatmn of. Washington I—Ielghts 18 .

Jocated at 551 Fort Washington Avenue, at the northwest comer of West 185" Street, in the Washington

Heights neighborhood of Manhattan, New York City. The boundaries of the property are described as Borough

of Manhattan Tax Block 2179, Lot 229. The building was ‘constructed in 1932, to designs by the firm of- Cherry

& Matz. On both West 185" Street and Fort Washington Avenue, the building is flanked by a six-story -

apartment house, typical of the streetscape of this neighborhood.” Across Fort Washington Avenue there are

several more such apartment houses. On-West 1859 Str eet, the buﬂdmg faces Bennett Park, a green oasis thatis
one city block wide by two city blocks: long. West 185" Street slopes up towards the west, wlnle Fort

Washmgton Avenue slopes down towar ds the north. - :

The Fourth Church of Chuist, Scientist is a three- story buﬂdmg with a double-height stadiwm-plan smlcmary L
sitting above a basement. Its massing is defined by a series of setbacks typical of the Art Deco style. Its facades oy
are clad in Jarge gray bricks, and adomed with Indiana limestone trim and aluminum grilles. ‘ : j

Exterior
West 185" Street _
The entrance facade faces West 185" Street. Its central portion is two stories tall, rising to a setback; that

~ portion is flanked on the east and west by a one-story section and, beyond that section on the west, by a -
- matching one-story entranceway to a service alley. The main enirance is through three deeply recessed, large
bronze double doors approached by a partial flight of steps (because of the slope of the street; only the
easternmost entrance has a set of narrow railings), set within three bays defined by limestone piers; above the
entrance doors, all ornament is also in limestone. The wall areas to either side of the central limestone-clad bays -
are faced in brick, with limestone trim, as are the one-story wings.

th

Each of the double-doors of each entrance is adorried with three ornamental squares, connected to each other by
a slightly projecting vertical element which gives the illusion of passing beneath them. Each square is itself a

set of three squares of decreasing size, one on top of the next, whose effect suggests a flattened pyramid; at the’
center of the smallest square is a geometric design. Each entrance is topped by a typically Art Deco metal grille |
combining abstract geometric patterns with stylized curves.and spirals. Above the grilles, the limestone wall 1s
adorned with a typically Deco stylized floral pattern, including leaves, flowers and clusters of grapes. The area
directly above the grille over the central entrance has had a plaque attached reading “HEBREW TABERNACLE
OF WASHINGTON HEIGHTS.” It appears to obscure a pattern of triangular forms still visible over the
entrances to the left and right. Above this section is an ornamental limestone screen, behind which are three :
windows which light the rear of the sanctuary (which, in a stadium plan, rises above the first-story foyer and’ b
vestibule). Above the screen, the limestone becomes plain, with a simpie inset blind arch. Beginning at the L
level of the limestone screen, the slender piers separating the three entrances, which at the first story levél are |
‘plain, become ribbed, and rise slightly above the setback where they curve inwards over the roof.
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The wall areas to either side of the central entrance are faced in brick and take the appearance of plain, massive -
towers.- Their only ornament is a geometrically shaped panel screen i the lower portion of each one; each wall
is capped at the setback with a limestone row of five square panels each inscribed with a stylized flower. .The
wall area to the east includes a simple service entrance, topped by a lintel in the form of small projecting
.chevmns (v’ shapes) . : .

The one-story wings to the ‘east and west are set back slightly behind the main two-story block; in the center of -
each is a window set ina limestone enframement; the limestone below the window is geometrically ribbed;
above, the limestone repeats the simple arch pattern from the upper portion of the central block. The simple
brick wing at the far west has an arch with a gate which leads to a service alley; the gate 1s adomed with simple
stylizedifloral patterns. -

Above the second story, the third story wall (behind which is the upper section of the sanctuary) is faced in -
brick, and chamfered at either comer. In the center, corresponding to the friple entranceway below, are, three
bays with simple blind arches set between flat brick piers. The chamfered corners are visible above the one-story
wings to either side of the main entrance block. Also visible above the one-story wings are two sections.of
brick wall, one parallel to the front fagade and one perpendicular to it, each with a window topped by simple
limestone trim repeating the motif of a simple arch, and each with a set of square panels inscribed with a
‘stytized flower, similar to those on the main fagade. :

Fort Washington Avenue
Like the West 185" Street elevation, this elevation has a central two-story section flanked by a lower sectlon to

either side, and a set-back third story above it. The central section reflects the design of the central section on
the main elevation: a central limestone enframement, with similar slender piers rising to slightly above the
setback; instead of entrances, however, this enframement includes two sets of windows, one at the first story and
one at the second. The windows at the first story aré protected by elaborate, Art Deco style aluniinum grilles,
adorned with spirals, stylized floral patterns, and, at the center top of the grille, a stylized classical um adomed
with additional stylized floral patterns. The upper windows are plain. The wall section between the lower and
upper sets of windows is limestone articulated with vertical ribbing. The wall sections above the windows are
adorned with the same simple blind arch seen elsewhere on the fagade. The wall sections to either side of the
central section are similar to the plain brick sections on the West 185™ Street fagade, rising to a similar set of
square panels inscribed with a stylized flower. Each has a window at the ground floor, protected by a stightly
narrower but equally elaborate version of the Art Deco grille on the central windows. The setback ’chnd story 1s
identical to the setback third story of the West 1 85" Street facade.

To the north of this central wing is a shorter Wing with three levels of three windows each, set in bays defined
by simple brick piers. Above each topmost window is a limestone panel with a simple blind arch; between the
topmost and the middle window is a limestone panel with a simple ribbed motif. That same motif is used above
the south and north windows at the bottom, but at the center, between those two windows, 1s a service entrance,
and above that is a rectangular limestone panel with elaborate stylized floral ornamentation. To the south of the
central wing is a similar short wing, but this one has only two stories; it has similar’ limestone orhament above

g
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- arid. below the topmost windows. At the lower level the hmestone extends into a sunple protective screen over
the lowel windows. - - : : o

= Weste: n elevation

The western elevation is V131b1e from the narrow service alley, enter ed through a gated entrance on West 185th

_ Strest, west of the building, or from & service doorway from the basement. It is a simple, undeveloped, brick-
faced facade, except for its topmost level, where three windows-are topped with simple blind round arches

- separated by simple brick piers, s1m11ar to blind ar ches elsewhele on the building, There are 51mple gated
Wmdows at the ground level : - ' :

Norz.‘hef 1 elevation :
The northern elevation, partially Vls1b1e from the yard of the adJ oting apartment house is entlrely

- undeveloped; with plain windows. .

| Roof ‘ o .
The building’s exterior Walls rise shcrhﬂy above the roof level, 111d111g the projecting octagonal dome above the !

sanctuary.

Interior . _
The interior spaces nclude a Shallow one-story enirance vestibule directly’ behmd the three main enfrance

doors;-a larger one-story foyer beyond that, with ancillary offices and lounges to cither side; and, beyond the
" foyer, a double-height sanctuary. The sanctuary is arranged in a stadium plan, in which the slope of the |
sanctuary’s rear seating rises above the foyer and entrance vestibule. Beyond the far north end of the
sanctuary are two stories of anciliary rooms. Beneath the sanctuary is a large basement, which includes what -
‘isnow a soc1a1 hall a lower-leve] foyer, a large classroom, and ancillary rooms and lounges.

Eim ance vestibule- - ,
The main entrance doors on West 185" Street lead into a shallow thlee—part entrance vestlbule The entrance -

doors are mirrored by three sets of double doars, with geometrically-shaped windows, Jeading into-the foyer.

Above each door is a simple orhamental panel. Eachi of the three sections of the vestibule has an ornamental
ceiling panel with modennstlcally molded rectangular areas, with a light fixture at the center. The Narrow
transoms above the entrance doors are set in frames with typzcally modelms‘uc chev1ons

F nyet—

Three double-doors lead from the vestibule into a similarly shaped but much wider the foyer. Above the N

entrance doors the ceiling steps up to a plain plaster surface; the floor is set in- geometric pattemns. At éither end, - '

three steps lead up to entrances to offices and other ancillary spaces: on the west side, to the principal’s office ) 1 i

(on the south) and a ladies” lounge {on the north); on the east side, to two administrative offices. The walls are '

hung with bronze memorial plaques. On the wall opposite the Vestlbule domways lead into the sanctuar, y . }
|
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i

Sarzctum P~ . o ‘ : ' ;
The sanctuary is a single large centr. ally-planned space capped by a large, shallow sky lit dome: It is arranged-on
a stadium plan rather than-a balcony, it lias a rajsed rear seating area which rises above and extends over the-

foyer a11d entrance vestlbulc The space is enter ed from the fover by stalrcases on either side of the rear seating -
© area. S S

* Each corner of the space, formed by recessed portions of the exterior walls, gives the appearance of supporting
the shallow central come. The western, southern, and eastern walls each center-on a set of three Jarge windows
set in an ornamental enframement of ribbed piers and inscribed panels. The windows at the rear, southern, wall
are plam glass, which allow the pattern of the exterior limestone screen to be seen through them. The windows -

“on the west and cast have been replaced with stained glass panes on Jewish religious themes with Hebrew
lmscrlptlons The walls at each corner have single windows with similar new glass All the walls are covered ma
fabric wall paper mstalled in the 1970s as & soundprooﬁng device.

The domed skylight at the center of the roof is entirely original except for its central pane of glass, in which a
Star of David replaced a picture of a dove. Its circumference is defined by omamental bands, 1nclud111g such-

typically modemistic motifs as chevrons, incised curves and styhzod floral patterns.

- The front wall of the sanctualy has been somewhat altered in keeping with the ritual needs of the Hebrew -

. Tabernacle. The organ has been removed, and an ark (ritual repository for the Torah scrolls) added in the center

of the raised platform. The ornamental bronze tight fixture hanging from the ceiling above the ark (the “ner
tamid” or “eternal light”) was brought from the congregation’s earlier home. Original omaméntal detail does
survive here, however, notably portions of a geometrically patterned screen above the ark, and the wooden
frontispiece of the raised platform adorned with stylized floral patterns, curves, and geometric patterns. -

To the left (west) and right (east) of the raised platform, tall geonwtrioally shaped doorways, whi ch lead to the
- ancillary spaces behind the sanctuary, display similar ornament, in particular as wooden panel with an “exit”
sign, adorned in typical stylized spiral floral pattems The ribbed wall above each of these doorways rises to a

pattemed screen.

Original Art Deco detaﬂmg remains intact in much of the rest of the sanctuary, notably in the wooden pews.
These extend in rows from the front towards the back, rising in the rear of the stadium to the rear wall; there are
also ranks of pews set parallel to each of the 51d_e walls. The ends of the pews, facing the aisles, are adorned with
' typically modernistic geometric patterns. The pews at the rear of the stadium are set behind omarnental

* aluminum railings with Stylized floral patterns.

Ancillary rooms behind the sanctuary-
The exit doors to either side of the raised platform in the front lead to stalrcases and a corridor off which are

. various small offices and restrooms. Stored in one of the small offices are the two original Art Deco style
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wooden readels stations, used in the Christian Science service. The staircases .on elthez side lead up to an or gan .

Joft and other zmcﬂlmy spaces, and down to the basement and boiler room.

- Basentent- 5 - _ S
Classroom:  One large space in the basement,-at the north end, has been turned into a large classroom, with -

built-in bookcases; other rooms to the east and west have been converged to use as smal]el classrooms. There is'-

- alsoa Ikitchen and utility and rest rooms

. Social hall: Directly below the sanctuary'is alarge double-height space with a dropped ceiling (the original
ceiling, similar to that:in the vestibule — see below — is said to survive above it) now used as a social hall. This -
room:-was once used as a Sunday school by the Fourth Chur'ch and also as overflow space where loudspeakers .
could pipe in the service upstairs to crowds of 400 to 500 -The room is lit by tall, wide windows looking out on
Fort Washington Avenue (these are the windows screened by modernistic aluminum griltwork described above).
At the south end of the room is & small stage recessed-into the wall.

Other spaces: Other spaces in the basement 1nclude

‘e A foyer, below the foyer at the upper level and connected to it by staircases, and with a snmlar geometucally
patterned floor and similar stepped ceiling. -

" e A hallway with a coatroom

¢ Ancillary rooms an lounges

At 'the north end of the basement level, sle\{eral steps lead down to a boiler room.

Surmmary _
In general, the Fourth Church of Christ, Sczentlst 1eta1ns a high degree of integrity of locatlon design, setting,

- materials, workmanship, feeling and association. It has been continuously maintained as a house of worship
since its construction in 1932, Alterations primarily affect ininor spaces such as offices and classrooms. The
" main facades, main sanctuary, vestibule and foyer all survive largely intact.

' See Significance section, footnote 48, e i
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8. Statement of Significance
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Apphcable National Register Criteria
{Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the riteria quallfymg the property
for National Register listing. )

1] A ' Property associated with events‘ that have made
. a significant contribution o the broad patterns
of our history.

[ 1B Propertyis associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past. - )

Areas of Significance:

{Entey caiegories from instructions)

| Asrchitecture

TX]'C  Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
~ of a type, period, or methad of construction or that
represents the work of a master, or possesses
" high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

Period of Significance!

1931 -1932

[ 1D  Property has vielded, or is Inkelyto yleld |nformat|or|
© important in prehlstory or h|story

Significant Dates: .

Criteria Considerations
{Mark "x" in all boxes that apply.)

1931,1932

1

‘_[X] A owned by areligious institution or used for
religicus purposes. :

Significant Person:

N/A

[1B | removed from its original location-

[iC é birthplace or grave

11D .a cemetery

[ TE a-réoénstructed building,.obje.ct,\or structure

[ 1F  acommemorative property

[ 1G lessthan 50 years of age or achleved significance
within the past 50 years

Narrative Statement of Significance -
(Explain the significance of the property on ane or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References
Bibliography

{Clte tha books, articles, and other sources used in preparmg this form on one or

Previous documentation on flle {NPS):

[ ] preliminary determination of individual listing {36 CFR 67}
has been requested. ‘

[ ] previously listed in the Naticnal Register

[ 1 previously determined eligible by the National Register

[ ] designated a National Historic Landmark

1 ] recorded by historic American Building Survey
# N

[ 1 recorded by Historic American Engineering Record

#

Cultural Affiliation:

N/A

Architect/Builder:

' Chemf & Matz

more continuation shesets.)

Primary location of additional data:
[ ] State Historic Preservation Office

[ 1 Other State agency
[ | Federal Agency
[ 1 Locat Government
[ ] University

[1]

Other repository;
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- Swmfm'mce
The Fourth Church of Chnst Scientist, today known as the Hebrew Tabernacle Congregation of
Washington Heights, at 551 Fort Washington Avenue in the Washington Heights section of Manhattan, is . -
- architecturally significant under Criterion C as a rare example of an At Deco style Christian Science-church, -
- and, for that matter, as an'unusual Art Deco example of any religious denomination in New York City. It -
reflects the classical design of the congregation’s first home, translated into a modernist idion:. Built in
'1931-32, to designs by church specialist architects Cherry & Matz, it was conceived as a new home for the
Fourth Church of Christ, Scientist, an established congregation incorporated in 1896, whose earlier home -
several blocks to the south had been condemned to makeway for the George Washington Brldge The period
of 51g111ﬁcance has been set at the years of the bu1ld1ng s original constmctmn

,Chrlstlan Science Church Ar chltectuze A o : . e

: Christian Science began as an “association of students created in 1876 under the leadership of Mary -
Baker Eddy (always referred to by Christian Scientists simply as “Mrs. Eddy”). Mrs. Eddy suffered from a

serious injury in 1866; “after reading an account of Jesus’ healing, her health improved.” In- 1873, she

~ published Science and Health with a Key fo the Scz iptures, whlch the church today describes as:

...;Mary Baker Eddy s primary work and the definitive textbook on the system of healing that she
dzscovez ed in 1866 and named Christian Science. Since the [first publication of Science and Health in
1875, its readers have testified that reading and studying this book has not only given them a ‘
spiritual sense of the Bible and a clearer recognition of their permanent relationship to God, but has
resulted in physical and spiritual healing. Letters from readers that testify to healing from simply

. reading the book can be found in the last chapter of Science and Health. Available in multiple -
editions and formats, as well as in 17 Zczz?guaoes and English Br aille, t/ze book is dedicated to
thinkers and “honest seekers for Truth” (Sc1ence and Health, p. xii. 23)

In 1879, Mrs. Eddy established the F1rst Chu1 ch of Christ, Scientist, in Boston, today lxnown as the
“Mothel Church”™; there are branch chu1 ches in 80 countries.

As a new religious denomination, Christian Science didn’t have any specific architectural fradition,
other than the general tradition of Christian architecture in Europe and North America. A recent history of
Christian Science church architecture by Paul Ivey” traces the development of architectural styles during the
church’s major building boom, from 1890 to 1930, a period that saw the construction of some 2000 Christian

" Science churches. Some of the earliest examples were built in neo-Gothic and neo-Romanesque styles. By
1900, howevm neo-Classical had become the preferred choice.

_ - Most influential among architects of classicaliy-designed Christian Science churches was Solon
Beman, who had designed several neo-Classical structures in Chicago at the 1893 World’s Columbian

% Cliristian Science web site, “Publiéations Science and Health with Key to the Scriptures by Mary Baker Eddy,”
http://christianscience.com/publications/sgience-and-health/.

* Paul Eli Ivey, Prayers in Stone: Christian Science architeciure in the United Stales, 1694-1930 (University of Illinois Press, 1999).
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Exposition, and who brought the style (and himself, as he became a Christian Scientist) to the movement.
-Beman’s First Church of Christ, Scientist in.Chicago, 1897 — by far the denomination’s largest at the time —
'became a model for such churches nationwide. His d631g11 g

.was for a cZaS.szcai church, modeled on ﬁze Merchcmf Tailors buzldzno he had pmduced for the..
World 5 Coiumbmn Exposztwn S : Co

Its interior had .

... semicircular: arrangement of tiered theater seating, derived from Louis Sullivan's Auditorium,

“and a large foyer.... In his proposal, Bemai wrote that he had chosen the Erechtheion of the '
Athenian acropolis as a prototype. He claimed that his studies of the basic principles of Christian
Science led him to a model that would express “elemenis. of dignity, strength, refinement, and beauty
by erystallizing these high sentiments that your teaching mculcai‘es into the archzfecrumf har mony
rather than to more traditional ecclesiastic forms. d

- Beman went on to design several more churches in Chicago, and others around the country, always in
the neo-Classical style. In 1906, he dcsigned a major addition to the Mother Church in Boston.

T he typical neo- Classmal Chrlstlan Smence churches included partmular charactensncs in their
interiors:

Christian Science interiors engaged the audience differently than did Protestant chu}‘ches'ofﬁ?.e, fime.,
In classical [Christian Science] churches, the large domes, often fitted with beautifl stained glass,
dominated the experience of the worship space. Centralized entry tunnels leading from the large
Joyers positioned worshipers directly under these dramatic domes as they entered the auditoriums.

- The spaces were always calm and comfortable. The readers’ platform, often framed by a decorative .

screen hiding organ pipes, was often adorned with cut flowers or - potted plants rather than with. -
- Christian symbols. :

Though Christian Science has never had an ofﬁ01a1 ar ch1tectura1 style and though all design
decisions were made independently by gach branch of the church — the classical became a standard for the

movement

Why did the classical style become so identified with Christian Science, for Scientists and for the
public alike? First, the popularity of Christian Science in. Chicago and the influence of the World's
Columbian Exposition on concepls of progressive ar chitecture and religion.... Second... the classical
siyle harmonized well wiih law and the authority of government, a concept conveyed by the

4 Ipid., 59.
3 IBid., 60.
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progressive designs of proponents of city beautzf cation movements such as City Beaunju] The.
classical style reiterated an important relationship that the Christian Science branch church wanied -
fo maintain with law and concepts of civic responsibility, areas in which the movement was criticized.
Third, the classical style'was often discussed using the memphyszcai language of Christian Sczence '
am’ could also be Jusrzf ed- thr ough its rheologzcai by amzﬁcarzons :

Another reason reﬂected 1'eligious associations:
...this architectural style predated the rise of ecclesiasticism and therefore could be said to represent

. primitive Christianity. According to the Christian Scientists, not since Jesus’ time and the time of the
early Christian church had healings been accomplished in the manner of Jesus. The Scientists

theorized that the teachings. of their church, as the new/lold church of a new/old dispensation, actually

“predated ecclesiastical histories. The Christian Science classical style was clearly historical, but its
historicity could be mitigated by the incorporation of up-to-date technological innovations and
standards that ensured comfort, peace, and shelter from disorder and pain. Though the underlying
technologies were modern, Christian Scientists knew that the classical style predated the rise of the -
Gothic style and so they believed it represented a return to the zm]%rzered and pure time of primitive
Christianity. The classical style itself could be confi gured as “‘nmew/old. "

In New York City, the First and Second chu1 ches commissioned neo-Classical homes for themselves,.
the Second Church at Central Park West and West 68" Street (Frederick R. Comstock, 1899- 1901}, and the
~ First-Church at Central Park West and West 96" Street (Carrere & Hastings, 1899-1903). The Third Church
didn’t build its home at Park Avenue and East 63 Street until 1924 when, following contemporary tastes, it
adopted the neo-Georgian version of classicism, But the Fourth Church built its first permanent home in
1918, in Washington Heights, as a neo-Classical building, and in fact hired Beman himself to design it — it
-was Beman’s only Christian Science church in New York, and the last such clurch he designed before his

death.

Washington Heights® :
Washington Heights oocupms the section of Manhattan Island between the Harlem River and the

Hudson River stretching from Dyckman Street on the north to West 155" Street on the south. It takes its name
from Fort Washington, erected during the American Revolutionary War i the area that is now Bennett Park, at
Fort Washington Avenue between West 181 and 186" streets. By the 19" century the neighborhood had
become known for its country estates with generous river views, and remained a largely rural environment until

-the beginning of the 20" century. The development of the Interborough Rapid Transit (IRT) subway line in
1904, connecting 157™ Street with the lower parts of the city, sparked denserreal-estate development.

® 1hid.

7 -
Tbid, 150. :
¥ This account is based on “Washmgton Heights,” by Robert W Snyder, in The Encyclopedia of New York City, edited by Kenneth T.

Jackson (New York Historical Society and Yale University Press, 1995}, pp. 1242-1243,
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. A.number of cultural and educational institutions moved into the new neighborhood early: in the.20™

. century, including Columbia<Presbyterian Medica! Center (near Broadway at West 166" Street), the museum -

complex at Audubon Terrace (Broadway at West 15 5™ Street), Yeshiva University (West 185™ Street and

 Amsterdam Avenue), and the Polo Grounds stadium (West 155" to West 157" Streets at the Harlem River).
Apartment buildings were erected.in Jarge numbers during the first half of the century. As the neighborhood’s
population increased, the need for a new Christian Science church was felt, and the Fourth ‘Church, originally
.housed in rented quarters on West 8o™ Street, on Manhattan’s Upper West Side, built a new home in the

neighborhood.

-'The Fourth Church of Christ, Scientist: o ' : o - o

The Fourth: Church in Manhattan, incorporated in 1896 as.the West Side Church of Christ, Scientist, - -
was founded by two of Mrs. Eddy’s students: Mrs. Elizabeth P. Skinner, and Mrs. Caroline W. Fram
(d.1925). As described in an “Historical Sketch” of the church, of 1933: - L

Under the direction of our Leader, Mary Baker Eddy, two of her students, Mrs. Elizabeth P. Skinner,
- C.8.D. and Mrs. Caroline W. Frame, C.8.D., united to hold Christian Science services which
eventuated in the Fourth Church of Christ, Scientist, New York Ciry.”

A Both Mrs. Skinner and Mrs. Frame had studied with Mrs. Eddyin 1888 at the-Massachusetts
Metaphysical@ollege,m and both had been among the first members of the First Church of Christ, Scientist,

in Bostor."! By 1897, both were living in New York City. In that year, Mrs. Skinner’s card was listed in the

Christian Science Jouwrnal as living at 314 West 76" Street, New York: ' .

Normal Course Graduate of the Muss. Metaphysical College, practices and teaches the practice of
Christian Science Mind-healing. Science and Health, by Rev. Mary B.G. Eddy, and all her
publications for sale. 12 L :

- “Mrs. Caroline W. Frame, C.S.B.,” was listed in the same_iésue as living at 312 West 76" Street, next
door. ' ' '

9 Fourth Churcl of Christ, Scientist. Historical Sketch of Fourth Church of Christ, Scientist, New York City, 1933. Two-page
typescript now held by The Mary Baker Eddy Library in Boston, Massachusetts. o

0"Emest Sutherland Bales and John V. Ditlemore, Mary Baker Eddy. The Truth and the Tradition (1932), Appendix, :

" Mary Baker Eddy, Church Manual of The First Church of Chrisi, Scientist, in Boston, Massachusetts, Revised Edition (Bostorn:

* Christian Science Publishing Socicty, 1897). “On the twenty-Lhird day of September, 1892, at the request of our beJoved Teacher, Rev.

Mary Baker Eddy, twelve of her students and clurch members met and re-orgaiized, under ber jurisdiction, the Christian Science
Church and named it The First Church of Christ, Scientist. Al this mesting twenty other of Mrs. Eddv's students and members of her

Church were elected members of this Churchy those with others that have since been elected are to be known as “First Members.” Mrs.

Sidinmer was one of the twenty students. .
12 ~istian Science Jowrnal, Vol. XI, No, 1, April 1893, p. xx. “Christian Scientists’ Cards: No cards are hereafter inserted in these

columns except upon reference deemed satisfactory to the Publication Committee. Cards for publication are accepted fram such
persons as are Christian Scientists, using as their ONLY text-books the BIBLE and SCIENCE AND HEALTH, and who vse and
distribute only the works of Rev. Mary B.G. Eddy and the publications of the C.S. Publishing Society.” .
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 Mis. Franie, according to the New York Times,
- ..:is the granddaughter of Samuel Willets; who lefi her the income of a trust Sfund that yields about
-$20,000 a year.... Hemry Frame, Mrs. Frame's husband, who-died in October, I 902, made a fortune
- in the insurance. business ana’ left his widow near Zy $1,000,000." B C e

. The “Historical Sketc’h” contimies:

The. ﬁrst steps were faken ina modesr way, the services being held in the home of one of these
students: The attendance increasing,.it was decided to incerporate as a Church under the State laws,
a Charter being granted | in 1896, under the name. of West Side Church oj Christ, Sczenttsz‘

The West Side Chu1ch (Whlch changed its name fomnal]y in 1901 to the Fourth Church of Chnst
Scientist) was formed just as Christian Science was beginning to develop an architectural presence in
Manhattan. The First Church, chartered in 1887, had rented space in a series of buildings until 1896, when
it moved into the former home of All Souls Protestant Episcopal Church, cn West 48™ Street, which it had
bought the year before, making it the first church building owned by a Christian Science congregation. By
1898, the West Side Church was renting space called the “Christian Science Chapel,” at 251 West g2
Street, between Broadway and West End Avenue: 1 By the following year; Mrs. Frame was serving as the
First Reader of the chu1 ch, while the second reader was a young student of Mrs. Eddy’s, Carol Norton. ®

Norton had {onneﬂy been Second Reader at New Yoﬂc s First Church. An 1895 pubhcatmn desonbes
_him as follows: .

Carol Norton...was born in Maine and comes of the line of authors and poets that gave us
Longfellow and had'its rise in the old Puritan stock. His mother, who was a Wadsworth, was first
cousin to the poet... Although only about twenty-five years of age, [Norton] has been working along
the lines of religious reform for more than the past decade. When but Jourteen years of age, he was
deeply interested in reform work, and his maiden speech was made at the age of sixteen before the -
Y.M.C.A in the interesi of the White Cross work, when he took the ground that the law of purity is
equally binding upon man and woman,

Although active in business he devoted much time to reform and non-sectarian work until the age of
“twenty, when, receiving personal proof of the claims of Christian Science in his power to heal, he

13 «yieaverson’s Wife Sues Widow of 72, New York Times, Iuly 10, 1914, p.5.

" New York Tribune, September 27, 1896, p. A2, :

13 New York Tribune, November 21, 1898, p. 12; Clristian Science Joumal Vol. XVI, No i, Ap111 1898, pRXVIIL “Mrs: Caroline W
Frame, C.5.B., 11 AM. to 1 P.M., Monday and Fnday al Christian Science Chapel 82"d St., bet, Boulevard and West End Ave.” See
also “Historical Sketch,” op. cil.

16 histian Science Sentinel, February 9, 1899, p. 13

- T _ T
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gave up business 1o give six years of close study and demonsiration to that system of philosophy and
- religion and is now Second reader in First Church of Christ-Scientist.... Mr. Norton is untiring in his
[7 .
work for the p! omotion 0}’ z‘he cause.. ' -

Both Caroline Frame and Carol Norton had specific 1deas about the physwal needs of church
buﬂdmgs : :

Mrs. Caroline W, Frame, C. S. B., of New York City, and Mrs. Emilie B. Hulin, C. S. B., of Brooklyn,
were called to Boston to assist our progress [in building the Mother Church]. They devoted
themselves to selecting furniture and fitiings for “Mothers-Room”; and, although ail questions must
be deferred to the Directors for decision, yet their taste and experience in house-furnishing was of .
greatvalue. They also looked after the windows, to urge the work forward, to see that Subjecfs were

properly brought out, and that all was made imrmomous 18

Norton wrote an article about Chnstlan Science in the New York Sun, later enlarged and pnnted in
1899 by the Christian Science Publishing Society in Boston as The Chiistian Science Moverent. In it, in
‘discussing the growth of the religion, Norton -wrote of the significance of Beman’s First Church in Chicago: .

The dedication of the massive and beautiful Christian Science Temple in the city of Chicago, on
Sunday, November 14, 1897, renewedly called the aitention of all sober thinkers and readers of the

- “signs of the times to the serious contemplation of the religious movement which this great edifice
represents. The event is one of universal si rfniﬁcance to the Christian Scientists..."””

Christian Science is of practical value to the architect, masmuch as it mtensz}" ies what is kmown as the
artistic temperament, enables him to rapidly, surely and correctly atiain the abzlzry fo reproduce the
great classical orders of the past, and acquire the religion, as well as the science and originality of

2
art and architecture. 0

Clearly Norton was impressed by Beman’s work, and might well have laid the groundwork for the
eventual choice of the Chicago-based.- archﬁect to design the new home for the Fourth Church in Washmgton

Heights.

nd

The Fourth Church rented its space on 82™ Street until 1907, when the building was sold. According

to the “Historical Sketch™:

17 4General Gossip of Authors and Wrilers,” Current Literature: A Magazine of Record and Review (New York: The Current
Literature Publishing Co., 1893), Vol. XVIIL, July-December, 1893, p. 474. '

% Joseph Armstrong, T, he Mother Church: A History of the Building of the Original Edifice of the First Chui ch of Chrisi, Scientist, in
Boston, Massachusetts (Boston: The Christian Science Publishing Society, 1897), p. 38.

1 Carol Norton, The Christian Science Movemeni (Boston: Christian Science Publishing Soclety, 1899), p.17

0 Ibid., 20.
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Owing to the cancellation of our lease, and af'the invitation of a group of Christian Scientists living

on Washington Heights, including over.thirty fumilies, it was decided to accept the invitation and

establish the Church in that locality. A hall was secured at St. Nicholas Avenue and I 81% Street,

West, with a seating capacity of 400. The Reading Room was located in the same building. Steady oy

growth in the attendance soon. made it necessary to have larger accommodations, and on June 3", :

‘ ] 913, the title was taken o a parcel of ground on Fort Washington Avenue and West I 78" Srreezf

Very large congregations, especially on Wednesday evenings, attended our serwces in this church

and it was the center. of light and healing to the people in this vzczmry

In the interim, both the First Church and the Second Chulch had built their new, neo- Classwal
~buildings. The Fourth Church. engaged Beman ‘who- des1gned the structure that:same year: -

The Fourrh Church of. C’hns;, Scientist, is to have a two story edzf ce at'the north-east corner of 178th

street and Fort Washington avenue. The estimated cost is $75,000. The plans have been drawn by S.

31
S Beman.

_-Construction, however, was delayed contracts being let only in 1917.2 Completed n 1918 fom
years after Beman’s death - the church was' 111ustrated in several architectural journals.”

- Beman conceived the church as a handsome neo-Classical stmctme not quite square in shape, with

. an entrance through a porch with four Jonic columns supporting an architrave, on which rested an attic story
and a crowning pediment. This central portion,.corresponding to the vaulted interior, rose to a higher level

than either side. The main space of the interior was a huge barrel-vaulted space, lit with skylights, with a
short aisle to either side. The Fourth Church was very much in the 5p1r1t of Beman’s Chicago churches and

Mother Church extension.

Beman’s design was typical of the Christian Science church in its plan, entrance porch, and Ionic
order. Ivey describes the usual buildmng: '

Typzcal:’y the urban Christian Scwnce branch church was a central-plan building with a pedzmenfed
porch. This pre.senfed an authoritative public, face, even though the lonic column favored in many of
the designs could be said to soften or even feminize the style, an interpretation held by Freemasons in
the lazfe nineteenth century. T he porch was frequently made of fine malemzls such as marble or ferm- L

oo H‘CL

2 New York Tribune, Noverber 30, 1913, p. C1.
* Real Estate Record and Guide, Vol. 99, March 3, 1917, no. 2555, p..315.
B eFourth Church of Christ Scientist, Fort Washington Ave., New York,” 4merican Architect, Sch 4.1918,Vol. 114, Pt. 1, no. 2228;

and “Fourth Church, New York,” Architecture and Building, July 1918, Vol. 50, pl. 121-122, _
*Tvey, op. cit., 3. _ |
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The Fourth Church’s interior also conformed to the typical Christian Science neo-Classical. chﬁrch |

interior, with its domed interior space, Jack of sculpted or pamted omament, three entrance-doors, and
- auxﬂlary spaces: :

The. [typical Christian- Science church] building was often crowned by a low dome centered over an
auditorium. There were usually three-to five doors giving access to the interior. The fypical interior
was also classical in detailing and consisted of a large foyer created to foster sociability among
church.members, with at least three main.enirances to the auditoriumi; a Sunday school underneath
the auditorium; and offices for church business. The heaviness and authority of the exterior
contrasted with the lightness and comfort int the domed auditorium. In fact, light dominated the

. uncluttered worship space. As a Protestant denomination, Christian Science continued much-of the

iconaclasm associated with the Puritans' rejection of symbols and other decoration in churches.
Christian Science interiors were less elaborate and less ornamented ﬂmn the interiors of the
buildings of many Protestant denominations.” o - '

v

The Fourth Church’s form as an amphitheater continued the type:

Christian Science emphasized the importance of the Word over z‘he traditional rituals of both
Catholicism and Protestantism. In Christian Science, God was immanent ana’ the worship serves
were direct lessons in Christian Science theology. Therefore, Christian Scientists chose the
amphitheater form similar to that of the pulpit-centered auditorium popular with some Methodist
congregations, among others. This configuration emphasized a unity and intimacy of worship rather
than iuerczrchy a "gatheri mg around" of believers wwho listened to a lesson-sermon read fmm a dual

pulpit.

- The result was a very particulaij physical atmosphere: - o .

Christian Science interiors engaged the audience differently than did Protestant churches of the time.

In classical churches, the large domes, often fitted with beautiful stained glass, dominated the
experience of the worship space. Centralized entry tunnels leading from the large foyers positioned
worshipers directly under these dramatic domes as they enterad the auditoriums. The spaces were
always calm and comfortable. The readers’ platform, often framed by a decorative screen hiding
organ pipes, was often adorned with cut flowers or potted plants rather than with Christian symbols.

Solon Beman’s Fourth Church stood for barely two decades. Just eleven years after completing the

building, events forced the congr egation to search for new quarters, when the Port of New York Author 1ty26
condemned their property to make way f01 apploaches to the newly planned George Washington Bridge. In

2 Ihid.

26 Now the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey.
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1929, the congl egaf.lon purchased property furthel north on Fort Waslnngton Avenue, at the southwest corner - -
. of West 185" Street.”’ S . . :

The new bu1ld1ng eventually opened in 1932, holding its first service on May 22™ of that year. The
. newbuilding included many of the typical elements of a Christian Science church — a central-plan
- amphitheater form, a large foyer, a sky lit-dome. But rather than replicating the classicism of the original-

* Fourth Church, designed by the Chicago-based innovator of the style for Christian Science churches; it was
buﬂt in the words of the New York Times, to a modenustlc design,™ 28 by the local fn'm of Cherry & Matz.
Cherry & Matz specialists in churech arehxtecture , : o : -

- William John Cherry (d.1942)* and Herbert B: Matz (d. 1965) separately and together specialized in -
" church architecture. Little biographical informafion about either architect appears to be available, other than .
that Cherry lived in White Plains and Matz in Kew Gardens, and that the firm kept an office in midiown

Manhattan. In May and June 1921, Cherry wrote a series of articles on the design of suburban homes for the |
New York Tribune.”' Cherry & Matz produced a monograply, pubhshed c. 1930, on their church designs, all of
‘which are in traditional styles, primarily Gothic or Romanesque. ? The foliowing list includes all those |
buildings, plus additional ones listed in other sources (those 111ust1ated in the firm’s monogr aph are asterisked;

footnotes 1dent1fy other soulces)

New York C‘1ty Projects:

Brooklyn
#*Church of the Advent (1928, Avenue P and East 12% SUE:B'[)

*#Church of the Epiphany (date and location undetermined)

*Church of the Good Shepherd and parish house (1928, 4% Avenue. a11d 751]1 Street)™
*Third Church of Christ, Scientist (1929, Albernarle Road and E 21% Street)™

St. Paul’s Lutheran Church (1941, Avenue J and E.40" Street)*®

T epyrohases Uptown Site,” New York Times, August 3, 19’79 p. 28, i |
® “Clristian Scientists Oper: $275,000 Building; New Fourth Churcli Is of Modennsmc Design,” New York Times, May 23, 193 . '
13.

- “Cherry, William Joln,” in “Brief Biogr aplnes of American Arolntects Who Died Between 1897 and 1947, transcnbed ﬁom the
American Art Annual by Earle G. Shetlleworth, Jr., Director, Maine Historic Preservation Commission,” on the web site of the Society
of Architectural Historians {http://ww.sal. org/mdex php?sre=gendocs&ref=BiographiesAr chﬂeots&oatcgory—Resomces)

30 wHerbert E. Matz” [obituary], New York Times, August 6, 1965, p.27.

Alugg 500 Will Give Small Family Charming Bungalow, » New-York Tribune, May 15, 19’?1 p. All. See also May §, 1921, p. AlL;
May 22, 1921, p. Al1, May 29, 1921, p. AlC; Tune 5, 1921, p. A10; June 12, 1921, p. AlZ, . @
2 Eeclesiastical Work of Cherry & Matz (n.d.). Almost entirely a book of photographs. The title page reads: “The followmg :
iltustrations ‘are a few of the recent churches executed by the firm of Cherry & Matz, Registered Architects, Member, American |
Institute of Architects, New York, Architectural League of New York.” At the bottom of that page is prinied “Presented to” with room
for the name of a potential client. |
® Brooklyn Eagle, February 7, 1928, p.11. |
* Brookiyn Eagle, February 7, 1928, p.11, and February 12, 1928, p. D1. l
3 Broolkdyn Eagle, November 2, 1929, p. 8. : . ; ‘
3 Brookiyn Eagle, Iune 21, 1941, p. 8. ' o
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Queens '
e *Holy Trmity Chul ch, Holhs (19205 159-19 98th Stleet)
e *8t. Bamnabas Lutheran Church, Howard Beach (1929, 159-19 g Stleet)

e St John’s Lutheran Church; Richmend Hill (¢.1923, 86-20 114th Street)

e New Evangelical Lutheran Church of the Redeemer, Glendale (1926, Cooper.and Poschck avenues)

‘e First Church of Christ Scientist, Queens Villagé (1929, 217" Street between 93rd and 94" roads)*’.
e Emanuel Evangehcal Reformed Chtn ch of Woodhwen (1939 Woodhaven Boulevard and 91St

Avenue)
e Tiinity Evangehcal Luthc1an Church of Maspeth (1940 60th Avenue and 60th Str eet)’“

White Plains
e #Tirst Presbytenan Church (date undetermlned 39 North Br oadway)

s *St. Bartholomew’s Episcopal Church, parish house and rectory (1926, 82 Prospect St)
s #St. Matthew’s Lutheran Church (1925 3 Carhart Avenue)

Elsewhe} e _
s *Allentown, Pennsylvania: Grace Lutheran Church (1934, 729 Saint Johi St)

o *Bridgeport, Connecticut: First Lutheran Church (date undetenmned 470 Laurel Avenue)
Lutheran Church of the Epiphany, Hempstead (1932, Long Islandy®

. St. John’s Lutheran Church, Merrick (1937, Merrick Avenue at Mar garet Boulevend Long Island)
First English Luther an Church, Schenectady (1930, Summit Avenue)’ ‘
St. Stephen’s Lutheran Church, Huntington (1936 Broadway at S Park Avenue)

On hlS own Matz also designed the new Evangelical Luthel an Chur ch, 335 East 19" Street in 1948,
n Manhattan '

7 Brooklyn Eagle, June 14, 1529, p. 19.

% Brooklyn Eagle, Tuly 4, 1926, p. 2D, and November 22, 1926, p. 6.

¥ Brooklyn Eagle, December 11, 1931, p. 19.

 Brookiyn Eagle, August 26, 1939, p. 10.

' Brooklyn Eagle, Tuly 14, 1940, p. 6A

© Brookiyn Eagle, May 10, 1926 p. 2D, and May 20, 1926, p. 6A.
- % gt Matthew’s Lutheran Clurch, web site: http://www.st-matthews-lutheran. oz g:‘lustory Tntm1
* gt Tolm's Evangelical Lutheran Church, web site:

http:/fwrww.stjiohnsallentown.or g/AboutStJohns/OutHlstory/labldf’lOS:’Default aspx
* Brooklyn Eagle, Tune 5, 1932, p. D2, o

* Broaklyn Eagle, Janvary 24, 1937 p. A.13.

# Schenectady Gazette, June 4, 1930, p. 7.

48 Long Islander, Huntington NY, June 19, 1936, p. 6.

9 New 19th St. Clwrek for Lutheran Group,” New York Times, July 20, 1948, p. 35.
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Not only are the chur ohes in the monograph all tr aditional styles, mostly Gothic, so are the ﬁrm 8:
churches of the 1930s and early 1940s - those contempm ary w1th or later than the Fourth Chm ch. .

- The ove1w11elmmg majority of the firm’s clients appear to have been Luthe1a11 churches. .

Nevertheless, they did.occasionally do-work for other denominations; and in the years just before the -

" Washington Heights commission the firm desi gned two Christian Science churches: the Third Church of
Christ, Scientist, in Flatbush in 1929, and the First Church in Queens Village in 1931, Their design for the
Third Church in Bzooklyn followed the 1920s trend of neo-Georgian versions of the classical, including a
main entrance marked by four dou’ole-hewht Tonic.columns supporting an entablature and pediment, not
unlike the Third Church in Manhattan. No doubt the firm could have designed a new home for the Fourth .
Church in the spirit.of Solon Beman’s original. For unknown reasons, however, the congregation’s leaders -
decided that, instead, they would opt for a modernistic design. None of the buildings Cherry & Matz

~designed in the late 1920s and 1930s suggests anythmg of the modemistic style today oalled Art Deco — only
the Fourth Church of Christ, Scientist, in Washmgton Hei ghts ,

Art Deco
The term “Art Deco”™™ - der1ved ﬁom the title of the 1925 Paris “Exhibition Internationale des Axts

Decoratifs et Industrielles Modetnes” (International Exhibition of Modern Decorative and Industrial Arts) —is
today used loosely to describe & namber of architectural and decorative styles current in Europe, the Ameueas
and elsewhere from the mid-1920s until as late, in-some instances, as the mid-1940s. L

) l_n New York City a1ol1iiecm1e the style developed first in some two dozen skyscrapers, built between .
1923 and 1932, and then filtered out and down to building types of all kinds across the city — apartment
buildings, hotels, diners, movie theaters, bus and aitline terminals. Chief characteristics of the style include
vertical rows of windows; a sculptural approach to design, making inventive use of the setback requirements of
the 1916 zoning resolution; and the apphoatzon of “modernistic” ornament, generally based either on abstract
- geometrical patterns or on stylized floral motifs. - :

Art Deco as an ecclesiastical style is rare in New York City, perhaps because of a strong predilection for
historical styles, especially Gothic, for church design, combined with the econornic effects of the Depression.
According to one contemporary writer, discussing church design in 1932: '

Precedent is a strongly determining factor in church design and it is hard to break away, from its
influence, Change has come about in every other way. We would not consider for a moment leaving out
the central heating plant in the most correctly reproduced Gothic structure because such an appliance

-5 For a peneral survey and history of Art Deco as a world-wide phenomenon i azl, architecture and design in general, see Charlolte ;
Benton, Tim Benton and Ghislaine Weod, Art Deco 1910-1939 (London: V& A Publications, 2003), the calalog accompanying the 1
exhibition of the same neme, organized by the Victoria and Albert Museum in London. For a specific focus on New York City Art i
Deuo architectiure, see Cervin Robinson and Rosemarie Haag Bletter, Skyscraper Style: Art Deco New York (New York: Oxford :

University Press, 1975). -

e






